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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) " Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Domestic: Hotel Domestic: Hotel

7. Description

Architectural Classification 7 materials {(enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)

foundation Stone

Late 1%ch and 20th Century Revivals: walls hrick

Colonial Revival

roof _other- tar

other _cagt=iran., cast concrate

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

SUMMARY DESCRTPTION

Constructed in the early twentieth century and situated in the center of the
City of Roanoke, Virginia, the Patrick Henry Hotel still serves its original
function. The hotel is an L-shaped, ten-story, eicht-bay, Lrick and concrete
builcing constructed in the Colonial Revival style. A one-story, four-bay,
enclosed cast-iron balcony overhangs the sidewalk and cominates the symmetrical
east facade.

ARCHITECIURAL DESCRIPTION

The Patrick Henry Eotel sits on the southeast corner of a city block in the
center of Roanoke, Virginia. The building is clad in decorative brick and
stone. This cladding covers the east facade, as well as the south elevation.
The north elevation, thouch facing another structure approximately half the
heicht of the hotel, is ecually embellished. Facing the interior of the block,
the vest elevation—the inside of the L form—is void of any such deccration.

Because the structure sits on land that slopes down slightlv to the east, the
main entrance and shops on the street level appear to ke set into the
foundation. This foundation is constructed of sawed stone blocks, now painted
vhite, The walls of the decorative elevations (the east, north, and south) are
constructed of dark red brick laid up in Flemish bond vith glazed headers and
deeply raked courses. 'hile the headers are darker than the stretchers, the
stretchers are so dark all the brick appears to be close to the same shade.
Contrasting with this dark brick are deccrative elements of the structure
composed of cast concrete. A number of heavy cornices dominate this
embellishment. The most ornate runs around the roof line and two more
articulate the third-story windows. On the third story, a small molded cornice
runs just under the sills while above the windows is a wide entablature
including a detailed frieze and heavy cornice. 2 large flower and another
leafy motif reminiscent of American Late Georgian/Federal architecture are used
in a repeating pattern to decorate the frieze. Projecting from the small lower
cornice on the east facade are two large flagpoles at the base of which each

[X]See continuation sheet



8. Statement of Significance :
Certitying official has considered the significance of this property in relatlon to other properties:
[CInationaily [ statewide  [Xlocally

Applicable National Register Criteria [ JA [ 18 [Xl¢ [Ip
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ _JA [ 8 [ Jc [Jo [Je [JF [la

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Da‘as
Architecture 1925 1925

Cultural Affiliation

N/A
Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A Stoddart, William Lee 3

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFTCANCE

The Patrick Henry Hotel is an example of an extravagant Colonial Revival
structure constructed as part of a 1920s campaign to bring status and a
cosmopolitan atmosphere to the city of Roanoke, Virginia. In both name and
stylistic attributes, the hotel created an air of respect and stability as well
as elemnce. While the name Patrick Henry was an allusion to the important
role played by Virginia in shaping America's colonial heritage, the Colonial
Revival style glorified, in both form and detail, the stability and simplicity
of the respected Federal style. Designed by New York hotel architect William
Lee Stoddart, the Patrick Henry Hotel is the paramount manifestation of local
urban transformation spurred by local civic leader, businessman, and former
mayor William Wise Boxley. Boxley rode the wave of post—WWI nationalism and
isclationiam to engineer an urban renewal that is now referred to as Roanoke's
"Golden Age of Municipal Progress.”

[X] See continuation sheet
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10._Geographicai Data

Acreage of property __Less than one acre
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|:]See continuation sheet

Varbal Boundary Description

Beginning at a point at the northwest corner of the intersection of fefferson Street and Bullitt Avenue, proceed
west along the north side of Bullitt Avenue some 226 feet to the property line, thence north along the property
line some 135 feet to the rear property line, thence east along the rear property line some 91.6 feet to the
northwest comer of the end of a public alley, thence south 10 feet along the end of the public alley to the
southwest corner of same, thence east some 135 feet along the south side of the public alley to the west side of
Jefferson Street, thence south some 135.5 feet along the west side of Jefferson Street to the point of beginning.

Boundary Justification

The boundaries include the hotel and that area immediately surrounding the hotel historically associated with the

property.
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displays an almond-shaped motif of cast concrete with large garlands extending
fram each side. The poles are placed symmetrically on the facade between the
third and fourth and the fifth and sixth structural bays. An unusual all-
header pattern is used for the walls of this level. The tenth story receives
even further emphasis., A plain frieze runs just below the sills of the top-
story windows. Above these windows along the edge of the flat tar roof is an
entablature, the frieze of which is decorated with several motifs including
urns and garlands. A dentiled cornice below a heavy balustrade completes this
arrangement.

Save for the flagpoles and their accompanying ornament and the placement of
structural’ bays, the north and south elevations are similar to the facade.
They are both included in the decorative cladding. The north elevation,
however, is samewhat unusual. This elevation is made up of a seven-story
section above and a three-story section below. The seven—story portion is
included in the decorative treatment of the east and south elevations; the
three-story lower portion, the exterior of the ballroom, is treated plainly
like much of the rear of the building.

The west elevation is not included in the decorative cladding and clearly is
not intended to be seen. The walls here are constructed of bright red brick
laid up in six-over—one common bond with flush courses. Other than a three—
bay-wide strip of stucco on the southermmost edge of this elevation, the walls
have no other decoration.

The most prominent feature of the east facade is the enclosed cast—iron
balcony. Attached to the mezzanine level of the lobby, the balcony extends
about twelve feet over the sidewalk forming a kind of marquee over the ground
level entrance and shops. Supported by five massive, evenly spaced, cast-iron
brackets, the balcony is set symmetrically into the facade so that it covers
the four central bays of the first story or mezzanine level. The extension
itself is four bays wide and extends one bay out from the facade. Each bay
consists of three double~hung sash windows with no muntins separated by six-
inch mullions. The row of windows sits above and below wall sections paneled
-to match the fenestration. Below each of the windows a rectangular flowerpot
rests on a gmall base cornice. Above the upper paneling is an entablature
which consists of a plain architrave, a frieze adorned by a garland and urn
pattern, and a cornice topped by lace-like cresting. FEach of the four bays of
the balcony is separated by a pilaster. The pilasters are covered in a
honeysuckle~leaf pattern which twists around several urn motifs. This pattern
continues up the column until it stops in the drapery of the torso of a

-—&€lassical maiden (terminal figure). Ionic scrolls, which provide the capital
for each pilaster, sit right above the head of the maiden, giving the
impression that they are an extension of her hair.
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The entrance to the ground level shops and the main hotel entrance lies just
below the balcony. The main entrance has been recently remodeled. The solid
glass doors and surround are likely part of this restoration. The two other
entrances, on the south and west, have also been samewhat changed. While the
west entrance is intended principally for the hotel employees, the main and
south entrance are meant for guests. A flat marquee, supported by two heavy
steel bands, covers the south entrance. '

Like any hotel, the facade of the Patrick Henry has many windows—-well over one
hundred. Eight structural bays outline the pattern of fenestration. The
central six bays each have a set of two windows, separated by a simple mullion,
per story; the two outermost bays have only a single window per story. While
this pattern is repeated over the whole facade, there are variations on the
first two stories. On the first story, the four remaining bays (i.e., those
not obstructed by the balcony) and each bay on the second story have paired
windows. These pairs of windows are each six—over-six double-hung sash with
surrounds of cast concrete. The mezzanine level has an engaged balustrade that
underscores each pair of windows. ‘The surround continues up above these
windows and ends in a broken ogee pediment that extends over the surround of
the second-story windows. A scrolled surround characterizes these slightly
smaller six-over-six double-hung sash windows. From the third to the tenth
story, what were probably once sash windows similar to those of the first and
second stories, have since been replaced by brown, metal casement windows.
These windows consist of two horizontally sliding panes which rest upon a fixed
lower pane. Each of the panes is separated by brown metal framing.

The top story windows receive the most decorative emphasis. With a single
window, the two end bays display a thick cast concrete surround camposed of a
small engaged balustrade enclosing sill, lintel, and architrave trim with a
heavy leaf-like motif, and a broken ogee pediment with scrolled supporting
brackets. The sills of the paired windows of the central six bays sit on the
maneled frieze that runs below the tenth story. Under each window a small
semicircular iron railing is attached to the frieze. Three Icnic pilasters,
decorated with a leafy motif, make up the surround with a single pilaster on
either side of the peir and one in the center acting as a mullion. The Ionic
capital of the pilasters does not stop the progress of the motif. The
pilasters continue up past the capital to form a semicircular pediment over
each window. Garland and flower patterns characterize the lintel and the
semicircular pediment is given the texture of a filled-in fanlight.

The same pattern of fenestration and embellishment is largely followed on the
~———south and north sides of the building. On the south, the elevation is divided
into seven structural bays: the three easterrmost having a single window per
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story and the four westermmost being paired. There is a separation between
these two sections, as if the four westernmost bays were an afterthought
constructed in the same manner, The three eastern bays are identical to the
facade in every way, while the four remaining are varied on the first two
stories. The second-story windows lose their scrolled detail and the first-
story windows became large three-part windows with a six—over—six double- hung
sash central window, two—over—-two double-hung sash sidelightg, and a transom
one pane high and equal in width to the glass below.

The north elevation was apparently once like that of the south, only three bays
wide. Currently, this side of the structure faces another building and same of
the lower story windows have been bricked over. In addition, an external
stairway has been installed over the central bay. It is enclosed in a modern
steel and semiopaque glass sheath that obscures the balance of this elevation.

The west elevation is unadorned. The many simple brown metal cased windows
have no surrounds other than concrete sills. This side of the building is
where all of the equipment and utilities for the functioning of the hotel are

located.

A flat tar roof covers the building. From the west side, climate control and
other equipment is visible on the roof.

On the inside, the space is arranged quite differently on various stories. The
upper eight stories are designed to house the guests; the halls and corridors
are arranged the same way, following the basic L plan. The first two stories
are dominated by the lobby and a formal ballroom.

The lobby is a huce rectangular space, two stories high in the center with a
nezzanine level around the perimeter of the rectangle. Access is provided
throuch the main entrance up a small staircase. Directly across the marble
story from the main entrance is the front desk. Ten square columns arranged in
a 4-pby-3-column rectangle support the open space and the outer edge of the
mezzanine. All of the space under the mezzanine level has been recently £illed
_in with enclosed office spaces. An awning was added to overhang the office
entrances. The walls are plain, but sectioned into symmetrical gecmetric areas
with a heavy molding.

The edge of the mezzanine level forms an entablature that rings the lobby.
Above the molded architrave is a decorative frieze adorned with a repeating
pattern of garlands, urns, stylized flowers, and classical scenes in a Colonial
-—Revival manner. A heavy cornice rung at the story level of the mezzanine.
Further Colonial Revival motifs embellish the ceiling. Over the floor of the
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loblby, the ceiling is divided into three parts by two large beams running east
to west. The beams themselves are covered with patterned plaster decoration.
From each hangs a large chandelier that drops at least twenty feet from the
ceiling. Air conditioning vents and a modern drop ceiling alter the acoustics
and obscure the original ceiling detail.

Cast-iron balusters with wooden handrails are used on every stairway and around
the edge of the mezzanine that opens into the lcbby. A stylized urn design is
evenly placed among the thin spindles of the balustrade. This upper level of
the lobby serves as a hallway to provide access to the suites and the ballroom
on this level. The suites, which consist of a living room and kar attached to
a separate bedroom, like all the roams in the hotel, have been remodeled
recently. Any original stylistic influences present in the roams, other than
the general arrangement of space, have been removed.

This mezzanine level also features a rectangular ballroom accessible via two
sets of paneled double doors: one on the east and one on the south. On the
interior of the ballroom the doorways feature simple surrounds with garlanded
lintels and bracketed cornices. The two-story ceiling is slightly vaulted.
Two tremendous glass or crystal chandeliers hang from the center of decorative
octagonal plaster motifs. The space on the walls is divided into panels
articulated by heavy molding. The west wall is dominated by a fireplace over
which a mirror, the width of the hearth, extends to the ceiling. The north and
south walls feature full-height recessed semicircular-arched windows that begin
just above the wainscoting and chair rail and extend to.the entablature that
rings the room. The windows are paired six-over—six double-hung sash separated
by wooden mullions. A semicircular fanlight covers the pair. At some point
the five semicircular arched openings of the north wall were boarded up to
cover a somewhat dismal view of the adjacent building and alley. It is likely
that the original glass of these windows was concurrently replaced with
mirrored glass. The south side of the roam only has three of these windows
because the remaining space is filled in by a paneled double door and a smaller
door leading into the adjacent kitchen. It is possible that the windows of the
south side originally contained mirrored panes.

A typical floor (i.e., floors 3-10) is laid out in an L corridor providing
access to fifteen guest rooms. Contemporary wall paper is hung in the corridor
accompanied by recently added carpet, drop ceiling, and brass lights. The
roans themselves have been recently modified. A standard roam consists of a
bath, bedroam, and kitchenette. The carpet, furnishings, and wallpaper are all
of late 1960s vintage.
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HISTORTCAI, BACRGROUND

The Patrick Henry Hotel, which stands on the corner of South Jefferson Street
and Bullitt Avenue, was constructed in 1925 as part of the construction boam
that swept Roanoke in the decade after World War I. This era of munhicipal
progress was led by a variety of well-to-do citizens and local business
leaders; the most prominent was William Wise Boxley. When the need for greater
hotel facilities was realized and a group of citizens formed the Hotel
Corporation in 1923, Roxley became involved immediately.

Born in Louisa County, Virginia, Boxley moved to Roanoke in 1906. As a young
man, he made his living as a surveyor and construction worker, learning the
construction industry and acquiring a knowledge of what it takes to foster a
successful business. Predictably, Boxley struck out on his own. He began a
construction company and eventually became involved in quarrying. The New York
Central, the Chesapeake and Chio, the Baltimore and Ohio, the Virginian, and
the Norfolk and Western railroads became frequent Boxley clients. His
construction campany was also hired to complete large out-of-town projects such
as an aqueduct for New York City and a subway for the borough of Brooklyn.

Boxley's interest in business, as well as in political and civic matters, left
indelible marks on the history of Roancke. Branching out from construction and
quarrying, he was instrumental in the founding of the Shenandoah Life Insurance
Canpany, the Colonial American Bank, and the Liberty Trust Company. In the
political realm, Boxley's 1918 election to the City Council was a stepping
stone to his appointment as Mayor on 24 September 1919, After serving as
Roanoke's Mayor until 31 Auqust 1922, he turned his attention to civic matters.
He served on the boards of the Baptist Orphanage, Roancke College, and the
Virginia Military Institute. Boxley also put his business sense to work as
president of the local Chamber of Commerce. The following passage describes
the nature of his contributions:

Althouch one of the busiest citizens of Roanoke, his varied business
interests demanding his time and attention, he gave practically all
of his time and thought to the city's affairs during the four years
that he was at the municipal helm and his administration reflected
the sound business acumen and fine executive ability which made him a
highly successful business man in far more than the ordinary sense of
the word.
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Imbued with a keen sense of civic obligation, he gave most generously
of his time and also of his means to worthy entirprises and his
rhilanthropies, known only to a very few, were many.

In the early 1920s, the construction of the Patrick Henry Hotel became one of
Boxley's many projects. The Hotel Corporation, chartered 13 April 1923, was
formed by a group of leading citi'.zens to raise the funds required to hbuild a
large hotel in the downtown area.“ The corporation sold 1,650 shares of common
stock at $1,000 per share. Boxley was the president of the Business Extension
Corporation, the organization that was formed to manage the details that arise
during such a venture. In 1923, the Business Extension Corporation bought the
corner lot across from Elmwood Park on which the hotel would be constructed.
In addition, Boxley personally took on the responsibility of finding a suitable
architect. He wrote noted New York architect William Lee Stoddart, "We had a
meeting of our committee on the new hotel proposition yesterday, and after
discussing the matter thoroughly it was decided that we would employ you as our
architect for the new hotel," The fee was agreed upon as five percent of the
total construction cost.

A graduate of Columbia University School of Architgcture, Stoddart designed a
variety of structures primarily on the East Coast.” Many of these structures
were banks and post offices but his specialty was hotels. An ad in the Roanoke
Times in 1925 listed more than thirty hotels, including the Abraham Lincoln
Hotel in Reading, Pennsylvania, the Tutwiler Hotel in Bimmingham, Alabama, and
the Lord Baltimore Hotgl in Raltimore, Maryland as being "designed and erected"
under his supervision.

The need for further capital inspired the reorganization of the Hotel
Corporation into the New Hotel Corporation. Chartered on 21 March 1924, th;
group had new promoters, new directors, and most importantly, new shares.

With Boxley a newly elected officer, the New Hotel Corpor%tion "met with much
encouragement” and a future grownd breaking was inevitable.

The actual construction of the hotel was done James Stewart & Co. IncC.,
general contractors, also of New York City. Many subcontractors were
employed, most notably the Virginia Bridge & aron Co., whose local works
provided the steel frame for the structure. ! Thouch all work was not
canpleted and paid for until January 1927, the opening of this luxury hotel
could not wait. A cala was planned and the formal grand openiniltook place at
7:00 p.m. 10 November 1925 with a dinner for over 2,000 people. The opening
~ came wﬂ.h a "burst of boosteriam that made it the city's biggest event of the
"~ year."
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Originally, the building consisted of tHee hundred rooms, lavishly furnished

for the time, each with a full hkath. The top story was given over to
eighteen sample rooms, intended to provide esmen and businessmen with a
proper enviromment for entertaining clients. T™he ground story contained

stores, offices, and a coffee shop. The terrace dining roan off the mezzanine
level of the lobby was copied from the Windsor Hotel inlg‘lorida and stretched
out over the sidewalk providing a view of Elmwood Park. Lfgallv purchased,
state-of-the-art equipment was provided to the hotel kitchen. The stﬂ;cture
originally had its own carage and power plant, anclsit was coal-heated. The
total cost of construction was two million dollars.

In the same year as the grand opening, the New Hotel Corporation, with the
project nearly complete, became the Henry Hotel Operating Co. This new
organization in turn leased the hotel to Meyer Hotels. A hotel management
canpany run by Robert B. Meyer a "stellar young hotel magnatfé' of Bimingham,
Alabama, Meyer Hotels managed six other hotels in the South. In 1938, with
Meyer still at the helm, the Patrick Henry underwent its first major
renovation. Local architects Edward G. Frye and Frank F. Stone designed and
engineered the changes. A second street entrance was added facing Bullitt
Avenue and a ballroam (55'x150')} was constructed over EBe earlier garage level,
about two feet above the mezzanine level of the lobby.

After almost thirty years of operation, the hotel experienced the first of a
list of significant changes. In 1954, Meyer Hotels withdregl its interest in
the Patrick Henry and new local management assumed control. The hotel was
again refurbished. The old power plant was converted into a laundry, new
furnishing§2 were installed, the dining room was redesigned, and the lobby
rearranged. In 1961, the American Hotel Corporaticn assumed management and
seven, years later, the Patrick Henry was auctioned to satisfy holders and
debt. The new owners, the Monterey, Corporation of Parkershurg, West
Virginia, again refurbished and altered it.2% fThe dining room was closed and a
restaurant opened in the original coffee shop. The 300 units were converted to
121 units, the tenth story became fifteen one-bedroam units each with full bath
and kitchenette, fgld the thirty-one rooms of each remaining story became
fifteen apartments. The entire building was air-conditioned. More recently,
William Carder, president of §8anoke Ready-Mix Concrete, purchased the hotel in
1980 for two million dollars.

The Patrick Henry was purchased in 1990 by the Affimmative Equities Company of
New gg)rk, doing business in Roancke as the Patrick Henry Hotel Investors,
Inc. Once again, the building will be renovated. According to Andrew
Jubelt, president of Patrick Henry Hotel Investors, "the new owners are
dedicated to restoring and preserving the authenticity of the Hotel Patrick
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Henry and plan to develop the entire conc%t around the significant historical
quality of the architecture of the hotel." Over the years, the Patrick Henry
was visited by many famous guests including Lillian Carter,ngom Jones, Art
Linkletter, Olivia Newton-John, and politician Charles Robb. In 1990 the
Patrick Henry Hotel was listed in the local H-1 district of the city of

Roanoke.
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VA. Prepared May 1983.

2, e Roanoke Times. 30 November 1936, p. 1.
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December 1923.

5. "William L. Stoddart, A Hotel Architect." 0 Times
Section. 1925, p. 25.
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